Mississippi State University Scholars Junction

Theses and Dissertations

Theses and Dissertations

8-1-2011

Results of a user study on 2D hurricane visualization

Joel Paul Martin

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsjunction.msstate.edu/td

Recommended Citation

Martin, Joel Paul, "Results of a user study on 2D hurricane visualization" (2011). *Theses and Dissertations*. 3812. https://scholarsjunction.msstate.edu/td/3812

This Graduate Thesis - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses and Dissertations at Scholars Junction. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholars Junction. For more information, please contact scholcomm@msstate.libanswers.com.

RESULTS OF A USER STUDY ON 2D HURRICANE VISUALIZATION

By

Joel Paul Martin

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Mississippi State University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Computer Engineering in the Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

Mississippi State, Mississippi

August 2008

Copyright by

Joel Paul Martin

2008

RESULTS OF A USER STUDY ON 2D HURRICANE VISUALIZATION

By

Joel Paul Martin

Approved:

Robert J. Moorhead II Professor of Electrical and Computer Engineering (Major Professor) J. Edward Swan II Associate Professor of Computer Science and Engineering (Committee Member)

T.J. Jankun-Kelly Assistant Professor of Computer Science and Engineering (Committee Member) James E. Fowler Professor of Electrical and Computer Engineering (Interim Graduate Coordinator)

Sarah A. Rajala Dean of the Bagley College of Engineering Name: Joel Paul Martin

Date of Degree: August 9, 2008

Institution: Mississippi State University

Major Field: Computer Engineering

Major Professor: Dr. Robert J. Moorhead II

Title of Study: RESULTS OF A USER STUDY ON 2D HURRICANE VISUALIZA-TION

Pages in Study: 37

Candidate for Degree of Master of Science

We present the results from a user study looking at the ability of observers to mentally integrate wind direction and magnitude over a vector field. The data set chosen for the study is an MM5 (PSU/NCAR Mesoscale Model) simulation of Hurricane Lili over the Gulf of Mexico as it approaches the southeastern United States. Nine observers participated in the study. This study investigates the effect of layering on the observer's ability to determine the magnitude and direction of a vector field. We found a tendency for observers to underestimate the magnitude of the vectors and a counter-clockwise bias when determining the average direction of a vector field. We completed an additional study with two observers to try to uncover the source of the counter-clockwise bias. These results have direct implications to atmospheric scientists, but may also be able to be applied to other fields that use 2D vector fields.

Key words: User study, visualization, weather, Hurricane Lili, 2D vectors, layering

DEDICATION

To Mom, Dad and David.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank the members of my committee: Dr. Moorhead for his continued support through this process, Dr. Swan for the tremendous help with setting up, running, and analyzing the user study, and Dr. Jankun-Kelly for never missing an opportunity to ask me how my thesis was progressing.

I greatly appreciated the insightful comments and motivation that the members of VAIL provided.

Very importantly, I would like to thank the study participants as they are vital to being able to perform this type of research.

This work was supported by the High Performance Computing and Visualization Initiative (HPCVI) funding provided by the Department of Defense (DoD) High Performance Computer Modernization Program (HPCMP) through the Army Corps of Engineers Engineering Research and Development Center (ERDC) and Jackson State University (JSU).

Travel funding to present this research at EuroVis 2008 was provided by The User Productivity Enhancement and Technology Transfer (PET) program of the HPCMP.

Permission to use Figure 2.1 was given by Mahnas Jean Mohammadi-Aragh.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDIC	CATION	ii
ACKN	OWLEDGMENTS	ii
LIST C	OF FIGURES	vi
CHAP	TER	
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
2.	BACKGROUND	2
3.	EXPERIMENTAL TASK AND SETTING	5
	3.1Experimental Design and Procedure3.2GUI and Software3.3Independent Variables3.3.1Layers3.3.2Selection3.3.3Shapes3.4Dependent Variables3.4.1Magnitude Error3.4.2Direction Error3.5Observers	5 0 1 1 1 1 3 3 4 4
4.	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	6
	4.1Wind Magnitude14.2Wind Direction24.3Directional Error Study2	7 3 4
5.	CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK	7
	5.1 Future Work	8

REFE	RENCES	29
APPEN	NDIX	
A.	INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL	31
B.	CONSENT FORM	33
C.	QUESTIONNAIRE	36

LIST OF FIGURES

2.1	Hurricane Lili's track in Google Earth. Track data is from the National Hurri- cane Center [7]. Image credit: Mahnas Jean Mohammadi-Aragh	2
3.1	Point selection circle that the observer would see. The selected point is at the center of the red/white circle.	7
3.2	Area selection box that the observer would see. The selected area is the area included in the black/white box.	7
3.3	The user study GUI in training mode. Note the correct answer on the right side of the screen. This was removed once the test began	8
3.4	Each of the four basic types of images. Combinations of these four formed the eight image types used in the study. The Images are: (top left) glyphs only (top right) glyphs + state lines (bottom left) glyphs + pressure contours (bottom right) glyphs + color map	12
4.1	Magnitude Error vs. Observers.	18
4.2	Magnitude Error vs. Question Type, Layers	19
4.3	Magnitude Error vs. Selection Area Size.	20
4.4	Magnitude Response Time vs. Question Type, Layers.	21
4.5	Magnitude Response Time vs. Selection Area Size.	21
4.6	Magnitude Response Time vs. Contour Lines, Color Map, State Lines for the area questions (360 trials).	22
4.7	Directional Error vs. Observers (880 trials). Observers 10 and 11 saw reversed glyphs (Figure 4.9).	23
4.8	Directional Error vs. Selection Area Size.	24

4.9	The glyph that is produced by RIP is shown on the left. In order to prove	
	that the counter-clockwise bias is caused by the shape of the glyph,	
	we implemented a small study (2 observers) where the glyph shape is	
	flipped, as shown on the right.	25
4.10	Directional Error vs. Glyph Orientation (880 trials).	26

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

In this paper, we report the design and results of a user study that investigated the current visualization methods used in the weather modeling community and determined their efficacy. The study used model output simulating Hurricane Lili (2002). This study concentrated on the ability of observers to integrate both the magnitude and the direction of vector fields over an area and to determine the effects of layering in a 2D vector field. Much of the work described herein was published in [8].

CHAPTER 2

BACKGROUND

Hurricane Lili began forming on the west coast of Africa on September 16, 2002 and became a hurricane on September 30 over Cayman Brac and Little Cayman Islands. As Lili approached the southeastern United States, it intensified, reaching a maximum wind speed of 125 knots (category four). However, the storm unexpectedly weakened in the 13 hours before landfall, becoming a category two hurricane. Lili made landfall in the United States on October 3 near Intracoastal City, LA with a maximum wind speed of 80 knots [7]. Lili's path as it approached the U.S. can be seen in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1

Hurricane Lili's track in Google Earth. Track data is from the National Hurricane Center [7]. Image credit: Mahnas Jean Mohammadi-Aragh. The Hurricane Lili data used in this study were generated by Zhang et al. [12] using the Fifth-Generation NCAR / Penn State Mesoscale Model (MM5). They attribute the rapid weakening of Hurricane Lili to a dry air infusion that can be seen in the MM5 model when output from the *Aqua* Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS) satellite is included in the model run. To study their simulation results, these domain experts created imagery using Read/Interpolate/Plot Version 4 (RIP) [10], a visual analysis package that is a de facto standard in that community. RIP uses a domain-specific glyph to visualize flow.

The past two decades have seen a wide variety of new visualization techniques. Texturebased methods [6] are able to produce high-resolution and visually pleasing results. However, geometry-based techniques such as streamlines and hedgehogs remain the most common visualization techniques used to investigate real-world flow phenomena [11]. For the most part, there is only anecdotal or assumptive understanding of the effectiveness of these techniques. The visualization research community is beginning to accept that the efficacy of most visualization techniques needs to be verified by user studies [4].

Some flow visualization user studies have been reported. Laidlaw et al. [5] dealt with detecting and identifying critical points. They also studied an advection task in which the observer estimated where a particle in a flow field would move. This was done using several common flow visualization techniques including arrow glyphs and line-integral convolution (LIC). They found that arrows on a regular grid were generally less effective than the other techniques they tested. Andrysco [1] only dealt with the advection of a particle, but included streamlines and pathlines. Also, the observers were asked to advect

a particle back to its origin. Unfortunately, Andrysco was unable to find statistical significance, which was contributed to the test methodology and observers that did not take the tasks seriously.

This weather and flow visualization study is focused on domain-specific 2D glyphs, a simple and intuitive technique still in widespread use. While some weather researchers have started to consider 3D visualization approaches, many continue to rely on 2D methods. In this study, we are interested in investigating the overall performance of these glyphs coupled with one or more layers of scalar data. This will pave the way for future work on other flow visualization techniques.

CHAPTER 3

EXPERIMENTAL TASK AND SETTING

To encourage weather researchers to start using visualization methods that we felt had greater efficacy, we designed a user study to test some potential improvements to their approach. We were particularly interested in how image layering affected an observer's performance. For this study, we defined layering as the number of different techniques (contours, color map, state boundaries) that are added to a base image. Our hypothesis was that as more layers are added, the observer's ability to interpret the base image will be degraded. Additionally, we were interested in an observer's ability to mentally compute the average direction of vectors over an area.

3.1 Experimental Design and Procedure

The prevailing wind magnitude and direction is an important aspect of weather understanding and forecasting. In this experiment, we presented observers with vector fields denoted by glyphs (Figure 3.1) that indicated both wind magnitude and wind direction. While not common in the visualization community, we used the vector glyphs that were used in [12] and are common in the weather modeling community (e.g., of the nine articles in the January 2008 issue of <u>Monthly Weather Review</u> that contained glyphs for wind, seven of them used the glyph style shown in Figure 3.1) [9]. All of the data sets we used showed the Gulf of Mexico region during the 24 hours prior to the landfall of Hurricane Lili, hence all of the data sets contained a spiral wind field and eye structure (e.g., Figure 3.1). Note this is the period when Lili rapidly weakened from a category four to a category one hurricane on the Saffir-Simpson Scale. We examined observer performance on two different sub-tasks:

- Magnitude Estimation: We asked observers to estimate the wind speed at either a point (Figure 3.1) or over a rectangular area (Figure 3.2). The glyphs encoded the wind speed by the number and type of extensions drawn on the right-hand side of the glyph; observers always saw this encoding given in the legend shown in Figure 3.3. In the point case, the observer's task was to estimate the magnitude at the specified location using the glyphs immediately surrounding the marker. In the area case, the observer's task was to average the wind speed of all of the glyphs contained within the selection area.
- Direction Estimation: We asked observers to estimate the wind direction at either a point (Figure 3.1) or over a rectangular area (Figure 3.2). The glyphs encoded the wind direction using a weather-vane metaphor: we imagine that we mount the tip of the glyph on a rigidly-fixed, rotating point; the wind catches the 'flags' along the back of the glyph and rotates the glyph to point along with wind direction (Figure 3.3). As with all low pressure systems in the northern hemisphere (hurricanes included), the wind field rotates in a counter-clockwise direction. This can also be seen in Figure 3.3. In the point case, the observer's task was to estimate the wind direction at the specified point using the surrounding glyphs. In the area case, the observer's task was to visually integrate the directions of all of the glyphs contained in the selection area and report the average direction. Note that two glyphs of equal magnitude that point in opposite directions cancel each other out.

The motivation behind these tasks is that it is important for atmospheric scientists to understand the magnitude and direction of wind, both at discrete points, as well as over extended areas. This is different from the tasks presented by Laidlaw et al. and Andrysco because they tested the observer's ability to determine where a single particle would go rather than determining the observer's understanding over an area [1, 5]. While in the most general case atmospheric scientists might be interested in various shapes of extended



Figure 3.1

Point selection circle that the observer would see. The selected point is at the center of the red/white circle.



Figure 3.2

Area selection box that the observer would see. The selected area is the area included in the black/white box.



Figure 3.3

The user study GUI in training mode. Note the correct answer on the right side of the screen. This was removed once the test began.

areas, for tractability in this experiment we only examined rectangular areas of certain sizes. Imagery for this study was created using Read/Interpolate/Plot Version 4 (RIP) [10] and was based off the images included in [12].

During the training and test, observers were in a conference room with only the test administrator(s). The observer was asked to sign a consent form and answer a general questionnaire, as well as given an incentive for completing the study (\$10). The observer was also asked to turn off their cell phone or set it to silent.

The test was administered on an Apple PowerBook laptop with a 15.2 inch screen running at the screen's native resolution of 1280x854. Observers were free to move the laptop to a comfortable position. Most observers placed the laptop within an arm's length,

but no specific measurements were taken of this. A Logitech V270 Bluetooth mouse was placed beside the computer. The touchpad was still active for observers that wanted to use it. As many potential distractions were removed from the screen as possible (e.g., the screen saver was turned off, icons removed, etc.).

Observers were given training on the testing software based on a bulleted training script. There were 15 specific points that the administrator covered with the observer during training. The test administrator walked the observer through four training images (two point and two area). These locations and images were randomly selected at the same time the images for the trials were selected. The observer was taught the meaning of the glyphs, instructed on the use of the two sliders (magnitude and direction), and instructed to only use the glyphs in determining their answers (i.e. they were not to use contours, color map or state lines to answer the questions). Observers were given opportunities to ask questions before beginning the test.

The observer then began the test. The test administrator watched the observers closely during the first few questions to see if their answers were reasonable. Some continued to ask questions leading to response time outliers, but magnitude and direction were generally unaffected by this. Had an observer's responses been significantly different than expected, a new training file could have been generated and the test restarted. This, however, was never necessary.

The observer was given an opportunity for a break after every 10 questions. There was no set length for these breaks and the observer could continue at any point. The magnitude and direction the observer entered for each task was recorded, along with the time it took to complete each subtask. The test administrator recorded notes about events that might affect results (e.g. interruptions or additional questions). Each observer completed 80 tasks, where one task was answering the magnitude and direction for one image.

3.2 GUI and Software

To implement the study, several scripts and a GUI were written. The scripts were written in Perl; the GUI is a Cocoa application. The hurricane images presented to the observer were 607x607 pixels. The full GUI occupies 1269x716 pixels.

To generate the list of tests an observer would encounter, a script randomly selects a data set, time step, and region of interest. The region selected is restricted so that it is not within 100 pixels of the edge of the data (in screen-space). The test conditions (point/area, color map, state lines, pressure contours) are randomly ordered, but balanced so that there is an equal number of each test condition for each observer. A second script determines the ground truth for each selected location by examining the input data for the imagery.

During a test, the GUI (Figure 3.3) displays the pre-determined tests to the observer. It records the magnitude and direction that the observer selects, along with the time it takes the observer to make their decisions. The output is cleaned and formatted before inputting it into the statistics packages Minitab, SPSS, and R. Minitab was used for publication-quality graphics and statistical tests, SPSS for statistical tests, and R for exploratory and preliminary analysis graphics.

3.3 Independent Variables

3.3.1 Layers

All of the images contained wind glyphs. Additionally, the images contained zero to three additional layers which we hypothesized would reduce the observer's ability to determine the magnitude and direction of the glyphs. The layers were pressure contour lines, state boundary lines, and a color map of relative humidity, for a total of eight different layer combinations. Figure 3.4 shows the four base images.

3.3.2 Selection

The selection for each question was either a point or an area (Figures 3.1 and 3.2). For a point, we told observers to use the four vectors surrounding the designated point to determine its value. For an area, we told observers to mentally integrate all of the vectors surrounded by the box. For black and white images, a red/white indicator was used; for color images, a black/white indicator was used. These can also be seen in figures 3.1 and 3.2. These colors were picked because they provided good contrast when they were applied to the image.

3.3.3 Shapes

For area selections, three shapes were chosen: square, horizontal rectangle, and vertical rectangle. Two sizes of each shape were presented to the observer (sizes are in screenpixels):

Figure 3.4

Each of the four basic types of images. Combinations of these four formed the eight image types used in the study. The Images are: (top left) glyphs only (top right) glyphs + state lines (bottom left) glyphs + pressure contours (bottom right) glyphs + color map.

- Square: 100x100 and 175x175
- Vertical rectangle: 50x150 and 100x200
- Horizontal rectangle: 150x50 200x100

3.4 Dependent Variables

There were two main measured quantities: wind magnitude (velocity in knots) and wind direction (in degrees). For each, we have a ground truth measurement and the observer's measurement, as well as the observer's response time. From these, we calculated four dependent measures: (1) magnitude error, (2) magnitude error response time, (3) direction error, and (4) direction error response time.

3.4.1 Magnitude Error

The magnitude error is computed as the difference in the ground-truth-magnitude and the observer-magnitude. A magnitude error of 0 means the observer has chosen the ground truth wind speed. A positive magnitude error means the observer has overestimated the ground truth wind speed, while a negative magnitude error means the observer has underestimated the ground truth wind speed.

3.4.2 Direction Error

The direction is collected in degrees; $0^{\circ} / 360^{\circ}$ is due north; degrees are left-handed, meaning they increase clockwise. For processing purposes, the direction is converted to $-180^{\circ} \leq \text{direction} \leq +180^{\circ}$, where 0° is still north. The direction error is the difference in the ground-truth direction and the observer-direction. A direction error of 0° means the observer has chosen the correct ground truth direction. A positive direction error means the observer has overestimated the ground truth direction in a positive left-handed sense; i.e. the observer's direction is clockwise from the ground truth direction. A negative direction error means the observer has underestimated the ground truth direction in a negative left-handed sense; i.e. the observer's direction is counter-clockwise from the ground truth direction.

3.4.3 Response Time

Response time is defined as the number of microseconds from the time the observer is shown the question until the observer presses the 'next task' button. Separate values are collected for both magnitude and direction.

3.5 Observers

Initially, we had planned to recruit observers who were Mississippi State University students and faculty in the Broadcast and Operational Meteorology programs. However, as the study design progressed, we determined that a strong background in weather sciences was not necessary to complete the study. Researchers from various fields commonly look at vector visualizations and should be capable of answering the questions we were asking. As a result, the observers recruited for this study include students and faculty with weather, visualization, or computational fluid dynamics backgrounds. Nine observers participated in the main study, comprising six males and three females. In addition, as described in Chapter 4 (Results and Discussion), we recruited two additional male observers to study

reversed glyphs. Thus a total of eleven observers participated, but unless otherwise specified, all of the results are based on the first nine observers. None of the observers reported color blindness in the questionnaire. Since observers were not interpreting the colors in the images, we did not perform tests to verify their responses.

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Each of the nine observers who participated in the main study completed 80 trials, for a total of 720 completed trials. Each trial produced a value for magnitude error, magnitude response time, directional error, and directional response time. We analyzed the data using standard error plots and univariate analysis of variance (ANOVA). For the ANOVA, we modeled our experiment as a repeated-measures design that considers *observer* a random variable and all other independent variables as fixed. The distributions on which ANOVA analysis is based assume that, for each tested effect, the data is normally distributed and the variance is homogenous. Howell says that for repeated-measures designs such as the ones we report here, these two assumptions are usually violated. Therefore, following the recommendations of Howell (p. 486) [3], for each tested effect we applied the Huynh and Feldt correction ϵ ; when the F-test is conducted, the degrees of freedom are multiplied by ϵ . This results in a more conservative test that corrects for the degree to which the ANOVA assumptions are violated. For our analysis, we applied the Huynh and Feldt correction whenever the data was completely balanced (and thus it was possible to calculate ϵ using SPSS). However, some of our F-tests were over unbalanced data, and thus we were not able to calculate this correction for every F-test. Therefore, we do not report Huynh and Feldt-corrected F-tests in this section. However, whenever we were able to calculate the more conservative Huynh and Feldt correction we did so, and we did not find any cases where the Huynh and Feldt correction changed the outcome of an F-test from significant to non-significant.

We processed outliers in the data with the procedure described by Barnett and Lewis [2]. We determined outliers by examining histograms that summarized each dependent measure; for magnitude error and directional error the histograms showed symmetric normal distributions, while for response times the histograms showed skewed normal distributions. We determined outliers on a case-by-case basis, by examining the tails of the distributions and noting values that appeared after conspicuous gaps in the histogram. Each outlier was replaced by the median of the remaining values in the experimental cell. Given that outliers are considered mistaken values, this procedure improves the calculation of means, standard errors, and the sums-of-squares terms used in ANOVA, which would otherwise be inappropriately influenced by the outlying values.

4.1 Wind Magnitude

In the wind magnitude data, there were 31 outliers that needed to be processed. This is 31 of 720 responses (4.3% of the values). While this is quite a few outliers, it reflects the difficulty of determining the magnitude, particularly over areas. There is negative bias as all observers tended to underestimate wind speed by an average of 4.0 knots; this underestimation is significantly different from zero (F(1, 8) = 2629, p < .000). Figure 4.1 shows the magnitude error results for each observer. All observers underestimated the magnitude, for man average of 1.8 knots for observer 2 to an average of 5.7 knots for observer 5.

Magnitude Error vs. Observers.

Figure 4.2 shows the main results for magnitude error. In the results, we encoded *layers* as a three-digit binary number where the digits indicate, from left to right, the presence or absence of contour lines, color map, and state lines ("1" indicates presence and "0" indicates absence).

Observers were considerably more accurate with points than with areas (F(1,8) = 151.2, p < .000). This is expected because integrating over areas should be more difficult than determining the magnitude at a single point. It also shows that the overall underestimation trend comes mostly from area tasks. Because the standard error bars overlap within both area and point questions, there is no evidence that the number of layers make a systematic difference in observers' ability to determine the magnitude; analysis showed no effect of layers (F(7, 56) = .392, p = .903), nor any interaction with question type (F(7, 56) = .894, p = .518). For us, these are somewhat negative results, as they do not

support our initial hypothesis that increasing the number of layers in the imagery would make the task more difficult. It is possible that the specific portion of the data set queried, and perhaps the queried value itself, make a much larger difference than the number of layers.

Figure 4.2

Magnitude Error vs. Question Type, Layers.

Figure 4.3 shows that the task gets harder as the size of the selection area increases (F(2, 16) = 84.5, p < .000). Observers increasingly underestimate the magnitude for larger squares or rectangles. We did not find any effect of selection area shape; observers gave equivalent results for squares, horizontal rectangles, and vertical rectangles.

We also recoded and analyzed response times for each magnitude trial. Figure 4.4 shows that the average response time for areas was greater than the time for points (F(1, 8) = 26.8, p = .001), which is further evidence that the area questions were harder than the

Magnitude Error vs. Selection Area Size.

point questions. We found an overall main effect of layer (F(7, 56) = 2.12, p = .057), which is further analyzed below. We found a trend towards an interaction between layer and question type (F(7, 56) = 1.9, p = .090). Figure 4.5 shows that observers took longer to answer with larger areas (F(2, 16) = 25.4, p < .000), which is further evidence that larger areas were more difficult. We found no response time differences for different area shapes.

Figure 4.4 suggests a layer effect for areas, but not for points. Indeed, there was a main effect of layers for the area trials (F(7, 56) = 2.75, p = .016). Figure 4.6 shows the response times for the absence ("0") and presence ("1") of each layer for the 360 area trials. We found main effects for the presence or absence of contour lines (F(1, 8) = 12.3, p = .008), color maps (F(1, 8) = 4.74, p = .061), and state lines (F(1, 8) = 18.1, p = .003), but no interaction effects. Contrary to our hypothesis, observers were *faster* in the presence

Figure 4.4

Magnitude Response Time vs. Question Type, Layers.

Figure 4.5

Magnitude Response Time vs. Selection Area Size.

of contour lines. We conjecture that the contour lines helped observers estimate the wind speed because they frame the wind fields (Figure 3.4). As we expected, observers were slower when color maps and especially state lines were present, which indicates that these layers made the task more difficult. Interestingly, although color maps are much more visually salient than the state lines (Figure 3.4), the magnitude of the effect for color maps (1.33 seconds) was much smaller than for state lines (3.11 seconds). This may occur because the relative humidity shown by the color maps also follows the wind field, while the state lines are completely arbitrary with respect to the wind field. In addition, note that these results are only for response time — the lack of magnitude error results indicates that observers' accuracy was not effected by the layers.

Figure 4.6

Magnitude Response Time vs. Contour Lines, Color Map, State Lines for the area questions (360 trials).

4.2 Wind Direction

The second dependent measure in this study was wind direction. Out of 720 wind direction responses, 27 (2.9%) outliers were removed. The directional error shows a negative (counter-clockwise) bias of -6.1° , which is significantly different from zero (F(1,8) = 41.8, p < .000). Figure 4.7 shows the directional error results for each observer; observers 10 and 11 saw "flipped" glyphs and are discussed in more detail later. All observers showed a negative bias, which ranged from an average of -3.41° for observer 8.

Figure 4.7

Directional Error vs. Observers (880 trials). Observers 10 and 11 saw reversed glyphs (Figure 4.9).

Figure 4.8 shows that the magnitude of the negative bias increased as the size of the shape increased (F(2, 16) = 16.9, p < .000). We did not find any effects of area shape on directional error.

Directional Error vs. Selection Area Size.

We also analyzed the response time for directional error. Our only response time finding was that it took observers longer to enter the direction for area questions (11.3 seconds) than for point questions (10.0 seconds) (F(1,8) = 6.08, p = .039).

4.3 Directional Error Study

Considering that these glyphs are commonly used by the weather science community, it is interesting that observers consistently (1) underestimated the wind magnitude shown by the glyphs, and (2) showed a consistent counter-clockwise bias when estimating wind direction. We hypothesized that the counter-clockwise bias was likely due to the glyphs' asymmetric visual design, where the wind-speed flags are always on the left (Figure 4.9). To quickly test this hypothesis, we flipped the glyph orientation (Figure 4.9), and ran two additional observers through exactly the same protocol. We expected that this would give us a clockwise bias with a similar magnitude as the RIP's regular glyphs did. Figures 4.7 and 4.10 show the results. Contrary to our hypothesis, our two observers still displayed a counter-clockwise bias with the flipped glyphs, and the magnitude of the bias is comparable to what we found with our first nine observers. The difference between the groups is not significant (F(1, 878) = 1.41, p = .235). Further study will be required to determine what, if any, role glyph shape plays in this directional bias.

Figure 4.9

The glyph that is produced by RIP is shown on the left. In order to prove that the counter-clockwise bias is caused by the shape of the glyph, we implemented a small study (2 observers) where the glyph shape is flipped, as shown on the right.

Figure 4.10

Directional Error vs. Glyph Orientation (880 trials).

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

Our experiment has empirically verified some expected results, as well as revealed some surprising and unexpected results. Among the expected results is that determining the magnitude and direction of wind speed over an area is a harder task than at a point. Another unsurprising result is that the larger the area that needs to be mentally integrated, the harder the task and the longer it takes.

This experiment revealed three surprising findings. First, although some data layers (state lines) increased the response time for wind speed estimation over areas by as much as 3.11 seconds, overall we did not find that additional data layers made the glyphs more difficult to read. Second, observers underestimated wind speed by an average 4.0 knots; and their underestimation became worse as the area over which they were estimating increased. Third, observers showed an average counter-clockwise bias of -6.1° in wind direction, and this bias also became worse as the area over which they were estimating increased. The wind direction bias cannot be entirely explained by the asymmetric nature of the glyph shape.

As discussed in the introduction, the glyphs studied here are widely used in the weather science community. Our unexpected positive finding is that these glyphs can be reliably read in the presence of additional data layers. However, our unexpected negative finding is that observers reliably underestimated wind speed and showed a bias in estimating wind direction. Because understanding wind speed and direction are fundamental tasks in weather data analysis, this is a potentially serious finding.

5.1 Future Work

It is well-known in the visualization field that the design space for any glyph-based vector field visualization technique is very large. A fruitful goal for future work would be to study related glyph techniques to see if they exhibit the same sorts of biases we found here. Another fruitful goal would be to tweak the parameters of the current glyphs, which are widely used, to see if they can be improved. For example, perhaps the wind speed underestimation could be reduced if the flags that denote wind speed were made larger (Figure 3.3).

Finally, while a strength of the current study is that it used real-world data, it is possible that the nature of the dataset influenced the results. In particular, we suspect that the directional bias might have arisen because every dataset showed a counter-clockwise circular wind field around a northern hemisphere tropical cyclone. We would like to repeat the study with a southern hemisphere tropical cyclone data set, where the wind field would rotate in a clockwise direction.

REFERENCES

- N. Andrysco, A User Study Contrasting 2D Unsteady Vector Field Visualization Techniques, master's thesis, The Ohio State University, 2005, http://hdl. handle.net/1811/300.
- [2] V. Barnett and T. Lewis, *Outliers in Statistical Data*, 3rd edition, John Wiley and Sons, 1994.
- [3] D. C. Howell, *Statistical Methods for Psychology*, 5th edition, Duxbury, Pacific Grove, CA, 2002.
- [4] C. R. Johnson, R. J. Moorhead II, T. Munzner, H. Pfister, P. Rheingans, and T. S. Yoo, eds., NIH-NSF Visualization Research Challenges Report, 1st edition, IEEE Press, Los Alamitos, CA, USA, 2006, http://tab.computer.org/vgtc/ vrc/index.html.
- [5] D. H. Laidlaw, R. M. Kirby, C. D. Jackson, J. S. Davidson, T. S. Miller, M. da Silva, W. H. Warren, and M. J. Tarr, "Comparing 2D Vector Field Visualization Methods: A User Study," *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, vol. 11, no. 1, Jan./Feb. 2005, pp. 59–70.
- [6] R. Laramee, H. Hauser, H. Doleisch, B. Vrolijk, F. Post, and D. Weiskopf, "The State of the Art in Flow Visualization: Dense and Texture-Based Techniques," *Computer Graphics Forum*, vol. 23, no. 2, 2004, pp. 203–221.
- [7] M. B. Lawrence, "Tropical Cyclone Report: Hurricane Lili," Apr. 2003, http://www.nhc.noaa.gov/2002lili.shtml.
- [8] J. P. Martin, J. E. Swan II, R. J. Moorhead II, Z. Liu, and S. Cai, "Results of a user study on 2D hurricane visualization," *Computer Graphics Forum*, vol. 27, no. 3, 2008, pp. 991–998, Presented at the EuroVis conference held May 26-28, Eindhoven, Netherlands.
- [9] D. M. Schultz, ed., *Monthly Weather Review*, vol. 136, American Meteorological Society, 2008.
- [10] M. T. Stoelinga, Users' Guide to RIP Version 4: A Program for Visualizing Mesoscale Model Output, University of Washington, Dec. 2006, http://www. mmm.ucar.edu/mm5/documents/ripug_V4.html.

- [11] C. Ware, "Toward a Perceptual Theory of Flow Visualization," *Computer Graphics and Applications*, vol. 28, no. 2, March/April 2008, pp. 6–11.
- [12] X. Zhang, Q. Xiao, and P.J. Fitzpatrick, "The Impact of Multisatellite Data on the Initialization and Simulation of Hurricane Lili's (2002) Rapid Weakening Phase," *Monthly Weather Review*, vol. 135, no. 2, Feb. 2007, pp. 526–548.

APPENDIX A

INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL

CONTINUING REVIEW REPORT FORM

PI Name: Robert Moorhead Address: GRI MS 9627

Advisor:

IRB Docket #06-239 Project Title: HPCVI Hurricane Visualization User Study Expiration date: 10/15/07

RECEIVED

SEP 1 4 2007

Funding status:

Awarded List agency:DoD Pending Not awarded No cost study Other: award expired; still running subjects

- 1. Number of subjects involved in the project (to date, if ongoing): 5
- 2. Were there any adverse events or unanticipated problems?
 - ☐YES, Provide a detailed statement: ⊠NO

3. Number of subjects who withdrew from the project: 0

- 4. Were there any complaints regarding the project?
 - XYES, Provide a detailed statement: The original experiment was too long (75 minutes), so we adjusted it such that it is now only about 50 minutes in most cases.
 - **□**NO

5. Is there any new information since the last IRB review that might impact the Board's understanding of the risks or benefits?

YES, Provide a detailed statement:

NO

6. Has the project been modified since the last IRB review?

☐YES, Have all changes been submitted for IRB approval: ☐YES ☐NO ⊠NO

7. Are you still collecting data? XYES NO

8. Are your remaining activities confined to data analysis? [YES NO
9. Projected end of project (data analysis complete): 3/31/08

10. Please attach a current consent form.

Principal Investigator

Research Advisor (if applicable)

Date

OFFICE USE ONLY Administrative	Approved: Christine Will Date 9-26-07
Full Board	New expiration date: 10/15/08

965 4

APPENDIX B

CONSENT FORM

Consent Form

Title of Study: HPCVI Hurricane Visualization User Study

Study Site: HPC² – Room: TBD

Name of Researcher(s) & University affiliation:

Dr. Robert J. Moorhead	Mississippi State University
	rjm@gri.msstate.edu, 662-325-2850
Dr. Ed Swan	Mississippi State University
	swan@cse.msstate.edu, 662-325-7507
Joel Martin	Mississippi State University
	jmartin@gri.msstate.edu, 662-325-8804

What is the purpose of this research project?

The purpose of this research is to compare different visualization methods of different aspects of hurricanes such as wind velocity, mixing ratio, and rainfall in order to create a catalogue of the best ways to visualize hurricanes.

How will the research be conducted?

For this experiment, you will be asked to watch short video clips of different hurricane visualizations on a computer and answer a short list of questions about the hurricanes. The accuracy of your answers will be used to judge the effectiveness of the different visualizations. We expect that the whole process will take no more than 45 minutes to complete. If you have farther questions regarding the procedure, please ask one of the researchers. However, answers to questions that may affect the results of the experiment will be deferred until after you have completed the procedure.

Are there any risks or discomforts to me because of my participation?

The risks involved in this experiment are no more than those associated with typical computer use. It is also important to note that your academic rating will not be affected in any way by your participation or nonparticipation.

Does participation in this research provide any benefits to others or myself?

This experiment may improve meteorologists' ability to understand and communicate data about hurricanes, which will make predicting the behavior of hurricanes more accurate. You will benefit from this experiment from exposure to the different visualization and the meteorological phenomenon that is being visualized.

For your participation you will be paid a sum of \$10. You can discontinue or withdraw your consent to participate in this experiment at any time. You will not be coerced in any other way to participate in this experiment.

Page 1 of 2 Draft -Revised February 2003

Will this information be kept confidential?

The data collected will be analyzed and the results may be published. The data and all related information will not be associated with your name or identity outside the context of the study or in any published results. In particular, data will be indexed by number; at no time will your name be associated in any way with this number on any computer system. We will keep only one written list linking names and numbers, and this list will not be put in computerized format, nor will it be revealed to anybody outside the study. The consent forms and the list linking the names with an id number will be stored in a locked filing cabinet. The filing cabinet will be in Room A209 of the HPC2 during the data collection. The confidential material will be moved to Room 207A of Simrall Hall after the data is collected.

The information will not be disclosed to anyone other than the researchers listed above until it is made anonymous. If you have any questions about confidentiality, please ask one of the researchers.

*Also, please note that these records will be held by a state entity and therefore are subject to disclosure if required by law.

Who do I contact with research questions? If you should have any questions about this research project, please feel free to contact any of the 3 researchers.

*For additional information regarding your rights as a research subject, please feel free to contact the MSU Regulatory Compliance Office at 662-325-5220.

What if I do not want to participate?

Please understand that your **participation is voluntary**, your **refusal to participate will involve no penalty or loss** of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled, and you **may discontinue your participation** at any time without penalty or loss of benefits. You are not required to answer any specific questions asked of you during the study.

You will be given a copy of this form for your records.

Statement of Consent

I have read the above information. I have had the opportunity to ask questions, and they have been answered. I understand that I do not have to fill out this form and that I do not have to participate in this research. I voluntarily consent to participate in the research. I am at least 18 years old.

Participant:	Signature:	Date:
		·

Investigator Signature: _____ Date: _____

Page 2 of 2 Draft -Revised February 2003 APPENDIX C

QUESTIONNAIRE

Attac	chment #2: G	eneral Question	nnaire			
1.	Gender	male	female			
2.	Handedness	right	left	ambidextrous		
3.	Date of Birth					
4.	Please estimate	e your uncorrected	vision (your vision withou	t wearing glasses or	contacts)	
	worse than	n 20/20	20/20	better ti	han 20/20	
	If you know it	, what is your uncorr	rected vision (e.g. 20/20, etc.):		
5.	If you wear gla	sses or contacts, pl	ease estimate your correct	ed vision:		
	worse than	n 20/20	20/20	better ti	han 20/20	
	If you know it	, what is your correct	ted vision (e.g. 20/20, etc.):			
6.	To the best of your knowledge, do you have any color blindness? ves no					
	If yes, please t	oriefly describe which	h colors you cannot see.			
7.	On average, ho	w much time per w	veek do you spend using a	computer?		
	None	less than 1 hr	1-4 hrs 5-	10 hrs 11–20	hrs over 20 hrs	
8.	How many types of computer systems have you used (e.g., Mac, PC, SGI, etc.)?					
	None	1	2	3-4 5-	6 more than 6	
9.	How often do y point.)	you play computer	games? (Place a vertical 1	nark through the lin	e at the appropriate	
	(Very seldom)				(Very frequent	

_ 1 _